RECEIVED

12-02-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Supreme Court of Wisconsin

Case No. 15-AP-1452CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

GARY F. LEMBERGER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING JUDGMENTS AND ORDERS OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM E. HANRAHAN PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ROBERT J. EDDINGTON State Bar No. 1078868

250 E. Wisconsin Avenue #1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-347-5639 rje@eddingtonlawoffice.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Should the U.S. Supreme Court's June 23, 2016 decision in *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016), which was decided after Lemberger petitioned this Court for review and after the State responded to the petition, be adopted in Wisconsin and apply in the present case?

Neither the trial court nor the court of appeals answered this question, because *Birchfield* had not yet been decided.¹

II. Did the State violate Lemberger's constitutional right against self-incrimination and due process by repeatedly asking the jury during his trial for drunk driving to infer guilt based on his refusal to submit to a warrantless breathalyzer test?

The trial court answered no. The court of appeals answered no and concluded that Lemberger forfeited this argument.

III. Should *State v. Bolstad*, 124 Wis. 2d 576, 370 N.W.2d 257 (1985), *State v. Crandall*, 133 Wis. 2d 251, 394 N.W.2d 905 (1986), *State v. Albright*, 98 Wis. 2d 663, 298 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1980), and their progeny be overruled in light of subsequent developments in search and seizure jurisprudence?

¹ Because of the timing of the *Birchfield* decision, Lemberger acknowledges that this issue could not have been stated in his petition for review. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.62(6). However, because this issue is relevant to the issues raised in the petition, it is discussed herein.

Neither the trial court nor the court of appeals expressly addressed this issue.

IV. Was Lemberger denied the effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to object to the State's repeated comments to the jury seeking an inference of guilt based on Lemberger's refusal to consent to a warrantless breathalyzer?

The trial court and court of appeals answered no.

V. Did Lemberger adequately preserve his argument regarding the State's inappropriate comments to the jury by expressly arguing to the circuit court that "[t]he State violated Mr. Lemberger's constitutional rights at trial by seeking an inference of guilt on an element of the offense charged based on Mr. Lemberger's exercise of his constitutional right to refuse a warrantless search in the form of a breathalyzer test," (R.49), even though he did not discuss *Bolstad*, *Crandall*, or *Albright* until briefing in the court of appeals?

The trial court did not address this issue. The court of appeals held that Lemberger forfeited his arguments relating to the State's improper comments.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues raised by this appeal involve important questions the resolution of which will establish precedent of statewide significance. Publication and oral argument are therefore appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Background

This case arises from Gary Lemberger's arrest and subsequent conviction for operating a motor vehicle while On April 5, 2014, Officer Andrew Naylor intoxicated. responded to 911 reports from several individuals of an aggressive driver yelling and swerving on Highway 12/18 in Madison (R.62, App. 2 148 at 66:13-23, App. 163 at 88:13-25). Officer Naylor was near the area at the time and identified the vehicle in question from the license plate number provided by one of the callers. (Id., App. 163 at 88:23-89:2). Officer Naylor followed Lemberger's vehicle for approximately two minutes before initiating a traffic stop. (*Id.*, App. 149 at 67:13-15). The officer did not observe Lemberger drinking (id., App. 178 at 164:3-4), nor did he observe any unusual activity other than seeing the driver's hand outside the window of the vehicle. (Id., App. 149 at 67:16-19). Officer Naylor did not observe Lemberger speeding or swerving, and Lemberger used his turn signals when changing lanes. (Id., App. 164 at 89:5-10).

² For the convenience of the Court, references to the record in this case are denominated "R.". References to the appendix attached hereto are denominated "App.".

Based on the 911 calls, Officer Naylor activated his emergency lights and stopped Lemberger's vehicle. (*Id.*, App. 150 at 68:1-3). The officer claimed to smell alcohol during the traffic stop, and further claimed that Lemberger had bloodshot eyes, slurred speech, and was speaking slowly. (*Id.*, App. 151-52 at 69:23-70:1) However, Lemberger confirmed that he had *not* been drinking. (*Id.*, App. 152 at 70:8-10). Officer Naylor nevertheless requested that Lemberger perform a series of field sobriety tests, which Lemberger agreed to do. (*Id.*, App. 153 at 71:7-8). The officer's squad car was equipped with functioning video equipment to record his interaction with Lemberger (*id.*, App. 152 at 70:16-18), and it was the "best practice" to record a driver's performance on field sobriety tests using this camera. (*Id.*, App. 178 at 164:13-19).

Notwithstanding this "best practice," Officer Naylor conducted the field sobriety tests outside the range of the camera in a shaded area slightly under a bridge underpass on the Beltline Highway. (*Id.*, App. 137 at 14:7-24). The officer also declined to take Lemberger to an empty parking lot approximately 200 feet from their location in order to record the field sobriety tests. (*Id.*, App. 166 at 100:8-16).

While one officer conducted the tests, another officer searched Lemberger's vehicle without Lemberger's consent. The search yielded no evidence of alcohol containers or any criminal activity whatsoever. (*Id.*, App. 175 at 138:23, App. 177-78 at 163:25-164:2).

As a result of Lemberger's performance on the field sobriety tests, Officer Naylor arrested Lemberger, handcuffed him, and placed him in the rear seat of the officer's squad car. (*Id.*, App. 157 at 79:12-13). While Lemberger was seated in the squad car, Officer Naylor read him a form, titled "Informing The Accused" that explained various provisions of

Wisconsin's implied consent law. (*Id.*, App. 157-58 at 79:25-80:5). The officer asked Lemberger to submit to a chemical test, and Lemberger initially agreed. (*Id.*, App. 158 at 80:9-11).

Officer Naylor then transported Lemberger to a police station and led Lemberger to the intoximeter room where they were joined by Officer Ellis, the intoximeter operator (*Id.*, App. 158-59 at 80:12-81:6). Before attempting to test Lemberger's breath, Lemberger was placed under observation for approximately 20 minutes. (*Id.*, App. 159 at 81:15-16). During this period of observation, Lemberger was coherent and did not pass out, fall down, or stumble in any way. (*Id.*, App. 170 at 123:7-20).

After approximately 20 minutes of observation, Officer Naylor again read Lemberger the "Informing The Accused" form. (*Id.*, App. 161 at 83:9-11). This time, however, Lemberger withdrew his consent to a breathalyzer test. (*Id.*, App. 162 at 84:22-23). Although the officer could have attempted to obtain a search warrant to pursue blood testing, he did not. (*Id.*, App. 138 at 16:19-20, App. 165 at 93:6-24).

B. Trial Court Proceedings

The State charged Lemberger with operating while intoxicated (fourth offense) (R.1, R.2). These charges were tried during a one-day jury trial on November 15, 2014 in the Dane County Circuit Court.³ At the civil refusal hearing that immediately preceded the trial,⁴ the circuit court concluded that Lemberger's refusal was improper and that the State "may

³ The Hon. Judge William E. Hanrahan presided over the trial.

⁴ See Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9). Unless otherwise indicated, all references herein to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2013-14 Wisconsin Statutes.

comment upon that during the course of the trial." (R.62, App. 141 at 23:7-10).

1. The prosecutor repeatedly refers to Lemberger's withdrawal of consent.

At Lemberger's trial, the State repeatedly referred to Lemberger's refusal to consent to a warrantless breathalyzer test. The prosecutor's very first words to the jury during its opening statement were:

"Hell no." Those are the last words you'll hear the defendant utter before he refuses to take a breath test.

(*Id.*, App. 142 at 33:5-7). Moments later, the prosecutor argued to the jury that Lemberger's withdrawal of consent was supposedly evidence of a "guilty conscience":

Over the course of the testimony, it's my hope, ladies and gentlemen, you'll understand why he's refusing this test, and that's because he's got a guilty conscience, and that will be proof positive that he knew he had been drinking.

(*Id.*, App. 144 at 37:1-4) (emphases added).

During the trial, the State called three citizen witnesses who testified that they had observed Lemberger driving aggressively. (*Id.*, App. 145 at 45:5-20, App. 146 at 53:1-12, App. 147 at 57:3-11). Although Lemberger appeared to be angry and driving aggressively, (*id.*, App. 145 at 45:5-20), the witnesses did not report that they believed Lemberger to be intoxicated. (*Id.*, App. 171 at 134:6-135:1).

The State also called Officer Naylor and Officer Ellis to testify regarding their interactions with Lemberger, including the officers' observations that they supposedly smelled alcohol on Lemberger's breath (*id.*, App. 151 at 69:23-24, App. 168 at 121:19-24), as well as Lemberger's performance on the field

sobriety tests. (*Id.*, App. 154-56 at 76:7-78:20). Both officers testified to Lemberger's withdrawal of consent for a breath test. (*Id.*, App. 162 at 84:22-23, App. 169 at 122:5-16).

Lemberger testified during the defense case and emphatically denied that he drove while intoxicated. (*Id.*, App. 174 at 137:23-24). He explained that he was angry at the time of the incident because he had been "cut off" by another driver, which caused his dog (who was riding in the vehicle) to be hurt when Lemberger slammed on his brakes. (*Id.*, App. 173 at 136:16-23).

During closing arguments, the prosecutor again repeatedly referred to Lemberger's withdrawal of consent:

....[O]nce [Lemberger] gets to the intoximeter room, we see that the defendant has a change of heart....Now he's got an opportunity to show that he's not intoxicated. He's being read the Informing the Accused one more time...and now is the part that his drinking and driving, his poor balance comes to haunt him, and he doesn't want to do it because he's got a guilty conscience. He doesn't want to see the number. He doesn't want you to see the number.

(*Id.*, App. 180-81 at 181:17-182:1) (emphases added). The State continued:

Defendant had a chance to fully, fairly explain how much he had by blowing into that machine. He was right there. This is nothing more than a smoking gun of a guilty conscience. The fact that defendant knowingly chose to accept a revocation of his driving privileges rather than provide a sample from an objective chemical test tells you something, ladies and gentlemen...It's nothing more than proof positive that he knew he had alcohol in his system...

(*Id.*, App. 181 at 182:10-24) (emphases added). The State again reprised the same commentary during its rebuttal remarks, noting:

And, when asked, while sitting in that room, to submit to a breath sample, ask yourself why is this defendant refusing? Why is he refusing?....It's because he had something to hide: the result. He knew he was over the legal limit....

(*Id.*, App. 183 at 187:1-9). The prosecutor concluded by arguing:

[N]obody on this panel...can...deny...undoubtedly the most important of them all, his guilty conscience and his refusal to provide that test result to us all.

(Id. at 187:16-23).

Trial counsel did not object to any of the prosecutor's comments.

2. The circuit court instructs the jury that it may consider Lemberger's withdrawal of consent, and the jury convicts.

The circuit court relied on language from Wisconsin's pattern jury instructions permitting the jury to consider evidence of Lemberger's refusal. (*Id.*, App. 167 at 113:10-12, App. 179 at 170:8-12). *See* Wis JI—Criminal 2663, 2663B.⁵

After deliberating approximately one hour, the jury convicted Lemberger. (*Id.*, App. 184-85 at 195:19-196:13. *See also* R.31). The circuit court sentenced Lemberger to 12

⁵ For the convenience of the Court, Instruction 2663 and 2663B are included in the appendix at App. 129 and App. 132, respectively.

months in jail, plus a \$600 fine and costs. (*Id.*, App. 186 at 202:17-25).

3. Lemberger files a postconviction motion for a new trial.

Lemberger filed a postconviction motion seeking a new trial, arguing that "[t]he State violated Mr. Lemberger's constitutional rights at trial by seeking an inference of guilt on an element of the offense charged based on Mr. Lemberger's exercise of his constitutional right to refuse a warrantless search in the form of a breathalyzer test." (R.49, App. 115). Lemberger also contended that he was denied effective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's comments. (*Id.*). In his brief in support of his postconviction motion, Lemberger developed his arguments, but did not discuss certain cases, including *Bolstad* or *Albright*. (R.51, App. 118-28).

The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing and reprimanded postconviction counsel for not addressing *Bolstad* or *Albright*. (R.53, App. 114).

C. Appellate Proceedings

In the court of appeals, Lemberger raised the same arguments he had argued in the postconviction motion. (Ct. App. Br. at 4, 9, 15-16). The court of appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision, concluding that the circuit court's observations about the postconviction motion were "accurate," and noting that postconviction counsel had not discussed *Bolstad* or *Albright* prior to briefing in the court of appeals (App. 107-08, \P 4-5).

Although the State did not raise the issue below, the court of appeals *sua sponte* held that Lemberger forfeited his

arguments by not discussing *Bolstad* or *Albright* in the circuit court. (App. 108, \P 6). The court of appeals concluded that Lemberger's appellate arguments "were never even hinted at" to the trial court and faulted Lemberger for not moving for reconsideration after denial of the postconviction motion. (App. 109-10, \P 9). In the court of appeal's view, reversal would "blindside the circuit court." (App. 109, \P 8).

The court of appeals also concluded that Lemberger's argument was "vague" and faulted postconviction counsel for not filing a reply brief. (App. 110, ¶ 11). Lemberger moved for reconsideration in the court of appeals, which was denied as untimely. (App. 112).

ARGUMENT

I. The U.S. Supreme Court's Ruling In *Birchfield v. North Dakota* Does Not Control This Case And Should Not Be Applied To Lemberger.

The Fourth Amendment and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right of individuals to be free of "unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. Amend. IV, Wis. Const. Art. I, § 11. The touchstone of this inquiry is "reasonableness." *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 32, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371, *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 1089 (2005)

It is now settled that the administration of a breathalyzer test constitutes a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment and Wisconsin Constitution. *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Ass'n*, 489 U.S. 602, 616-17 (1989) ("[s]ubjecting a person to a breathalyzer test... should also be deemed a search."); *Maryland v. King*, 133 S. Ct. 1958, 1969 (2013) (same); *County of Milwaukee v. Proegler*, 95 Wis. 2d

614, 623, 291 N.W.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1980) ("the taking of a breath sample is a search and seizure within the meanings of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions...").

A search is *per se* unreasonable unless it is supported by a warrant or falls within a well-defined exception. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1558 (2013); *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 18, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. Accordingly, a person has a constitutional right to refuse to consent to an unreasonable search. *State v. Banks*, 2010 WI App 107, ¶ 24, 328 Wis. 2d 766, 790 N.W.2d 526; *United States v. Moreno*, 233 F.3d 937, 941 (7th Cir. 2000) ("The Fourth Amendment entitled [the defendants] to withhold their consent to the search....").

A. Birchfield And Warrantless Breathalyzer Tests.

After Lemberger filed his petition for review with this Court and after the State responded, the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016). *Birchfield* held that under the Fourth Amendment, states may not criminalize the refusal to consent to a warrantless blood test, but could do so for refusal to consent to a warrantless breath test. *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2186. The Supreme Court concluded that "a breath test, but not a blood test, may be administered as a search incident to a lawful arrest for drunk driving." *Id.* at 2185. As such, the Court concluded that "a warrant is not needed in this situation." *Id.* at 2185.

Birchfield involved a Minnesota driver⁶ arrested for drunk driving after police smelled alcohol on the driver's

⁶ *Birchfield* consolidated three different cases—two from North Dakota and one from Minnesota. One defendant refused to allow his blood to be drawn following a drunk driving arrest. *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at

breath, observed his eyes to be bloodshot and watery, and after the driver refused to perform field sobriety tests. *Id.* at 2171. The driver was taken into custody and transported to a police station. *Id.* After receiving a warning about the state's implied consent law, the driver refused to consent to a breath test. The driver was charged under a Minnesota law making refusal to consent to a breath test a crime. *Id.*

In affirming the conviction, the Supreme Court confirmed that "the administration of a breath test is a search." *Id.* at 2173. However, the Court concluded that a breath test—unlike a blood test—did not implicate "significant privacy concerns." *Id.* at 2178 (internal citation and punctuation omitted). And, the Court noted its previous cases that had approvingly referenced implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties on motorists who withdraw their consent. *Id.* at 2186.

The Court ultimately concluded that a warrantless breathalyzer search was permitted under the Fourth Amendment as incident to an arrest for drunk driving. *Id.* at 2184. As a result, the Court decided that the motorist who refused the breath test "had no right to refuse it." *Id.* at 2186.

The Court reached the opposite conclusion with respect to blood tests which it found to be "significantly more intrusive..." *Id.* Thus, the Court concluded that a blood test could *not* be justified as a search incident to a lawful arrest. Nor could a motorist be deemed to have consented under an implied consent statute to such a test "on pain of committing a criminal offense." *Id.*

_

^{2170.} A second defendant refused to allow his breath to be tested. *Id.* at 2171. A third defendant consented to a blood test, but argued his consent was improperly coerced. *Id.* at 2172.

B. Birchfield Does Not Control This Case
Because This Court Should Interpret Article
I, Section 11 Of The Wisconsin Constitution
To Provide Broader Protection Against
Warrantless Breathalyzer Searches.

While this Court has typically interpreted Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution to be coextensive with the Fourth Amendment, "it is uncontested that a state's constitution may provide citizens with protections beyond those afforded by the United States constitution." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 49, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. Indeed, "the fact that this court has followed the United States Supreme Court does not dictate that [it] always will." *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 60, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625.

Albeit rare, this Court has afforded greater protections under Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *Eason*, 2001 WI 98 at ¶ 63 (Wisconsin Constitution requires additional safeguards beyond Fourth Amendment to invoke good-faith reliance on defective no-knock search warrants); *Hoyer v. State*, 180 Wis. 407, 193 N.W. 89 (1923) (applying exclusionary rule under Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin constitution nearly four decades before required to do so by U.S. Supreme Court). Several compelling policy considerations justify broader protection for warrantless breathalyzer searches in Wisconsin.

1. Birchfield conflicts with the interests protected by Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

Birchfield should not be adopted in Wisconsin because it undermines the interests protected by Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin constitution, including the long-standing

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