RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-11-2017

IN SUPREME COUR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2015AP1452-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GARY F. LEMBERGER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM E. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Lemberger sets forth five issues. But he acknowledges that his claims "must be reviewed within the framework of ineffective assistance of counsel." (Lemberger's Br. 18.) Both the circuit court and court of appeals recognized that Wisconsin case law establishes that a prosecutor may properly reference a defendant's refusal and argue that the jury can infer that a refusal shows consciousness of guilt. Lemberger does not point to any decision of this Court or the United States Supreme Court that has overruled these binding cases. And he acknowledges that in Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016), the United States Supreme Court concluded that there is no Fourth Amendment right to refuse a breath test without consequences. Lemberger asks this Court not to apply Birchfield. (Lemberger's Br. 10.) He urges this Court to instead adopt the court of appeals' interpretation of the implied consent law in State v. Padley, 2014 WI App 65, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867, and find a right to refuse a breath test without consequences under the Wisconsin Constitution. (Lemberger's Br. 21.)

This Court should reject Lemberger's claims. His ineffective assistance claim fails because his trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the prosecutor's proper comments about Lemberger's refusal. The trial court could not have disregarded binding case law and sustained an objection. Lemberger's constitutional claims fail because the Supreme Court and this Court have both found that there is no constitutional right to refuse a breath test without consequences. And *Padley* could not and did not interpret the implied consent law in a manner that would recognize a constitutional right to refuse a breath test without consequences.

ARGUMENT

I. Lemberger's trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the prosecutor's comments regarding Lemberger's refusal to submit a breath sample for chemical testing.

A. Applicable legal principles.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, "[a] defendant must prove both that his or her attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance was prejudicial." State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must prove that counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the the defendant bv the 'counsel' guaranteed Sixth Amendment." Id. (citations omitted). To prove prejudice, a defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's error, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. (citing State v. Guerard, 2004 WI 85, ¶ 43, 273 Wis. 2d 250, 682 N.W.2d 12). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. (citations omitted).

An appellate court reviews a circuit court's decision denying a motion without a hearing under a mixed standard of review. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 9. A reviewing court determines de novo "whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief." *Id.* (citing *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309–10, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)). "If the motion raises such facts, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing." *Id.* (citing *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310, *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972)). But "if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the

movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing." *Id.* (citing *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310–11; *Nelson*, 54 Wis. 2d at 497–98). The circuit court's decision to deny the motion without a hearing is reviewed "under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard." *Id.* (citations omitted).

B. Lemberger's trial counsel did not perform deficiently by not objecting when the prosecutor told the jury that it could infer consciousness of guilt from Lemberger's refusal.

In his motion for a new trial, Lemberger asserted that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by not objecting at trial when the prosecutor referenced Lemberger's refusal to submit to a breath test, and told the jury that it should infer from the refusal that Lemberger was conscious of his guilt. The circuit court rejected Lemberger's claim without a hearing, noting that his argument was contrary to *Albright* and *Bolstad*. The court of appeals affirmed, concluding that Lemberger's argument is contrary to *Albright*, *Bolstad*, and *Crandall*.

Both the circuit court and court of appeals were correct. Settled law establishes that the State may present evidence of an improper refusal, and that the prosecutor may argue that the jury should infer consciousness of guilt from a refusal.

In *Albright*, the court of appeals concluded that evidence of a defendant's refusal to submit a breath sample under the implied consent law is "relevant and constitutionally admissible" at trial for OWI. 98 Wis. 2d at

672. The court also concluded that "[a] reasonable inference from refusal to take a mandatory breathalyzer test is consciousness of guilt." *Id.* at 668. The court explained that "[t]he person is confronted with a choice of the penalty for refusing a test, or taking a test which constitutes evidence of his sobriety or intoxication. Perhaps the most plausible reason for refusing the test is consciousness of guilt, especially in view of the option to take an alternative test." *Id.* at 668–69. The court of appeals noted that the "only rationale for a rule prohibiting comment on a refusal would be that there is a right to refuse the test." *Id.* at 669. The court then rejected that notion, stating, "Wisconsin drivers have no constitutional right to refuse to take the breathalyzer." *Id.*

In *Bolstad*, this Court affirmed that evidence of refusal to submit a blood sample is admissible at trial, stating that "[t]he state may submit the relevant and, hence, admissible evidence that Bolstad refused the test for blood alcohol content." 124 Wis. 2d at 585. This Court added that "refusal evidence is relevant, because it makes more probable the crucial fact of intoxication," because, "[a] reasonable inference from refusal to take a mandatory [blood alcohol] test is consciousness of guilt." *Id.* (quoting *Albright*, 98 Wis. 2d at 668).

In *Crandall*, this Court addressed whether the admission of evidence of refusal violated due process when the defendant was not informed that the evidence could be admitted. 133 Wis. 2d at 254. This Court found no due process violation. It relied on *South Dakota v. Neville*, 459 U.S. 553 (1983), in which the U.S. Supreme Court held that admission of refusal evidence was constitutional even in the absence of a specific warning because the defendant was informed that "his refusal to take the test could lead to a loss"

of his driver's license." Crandall, 133 Wis. 2d at 254 (citing Neville, 459 U.S. at 566.) This Court stated, "We adopt the same rationale to find that there was no due process violation of the Wisconsin Constitution." Id. at 256. This Court rejected the defendant's argument that the Wisconsin Constitution provides greater protection than the U.S. Constitution, concluding that the Wisconsin Constitution requires no more safeguards or warnings than the Supreme Court found necessary in Neville. Id. at 260. This Court again affirmed that Wis. Stat. § 343.305 "[c]learly does not recognize a right to refuse the test." Id. at 257 (quoting Albright, 98 Wis. 2d at 671). It concluded that "[i]n Wisconsin there is no constitutional or statutory right to refuse a breathalyzer test." Id. at 254.

In State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 49–50, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987), this Court again recognized that the fact of a defendant's refusal may be introduced at trial to show consciousness of guilt. This Court added that due process requires that the evidence be admitted only if the defendant has been "duly advised" of the Informing the Accused information in § 343.305(4). Id. at 50.

The Informing the Accused information explicitly tells the person that "[t]he test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). And the standard jury instruction that the trial court used in this case states that "[t]estimony has been received that the defendant refused to furnish a breath sample for chemical analysis. You should consider this evidence along with all other evidence in the case, giving to it the weight you decide it is entitled to receive." (62:170; Wis. JI-Criminal 2663B (2006.)

Lemberger asserts that notwithstanding the statute and jury instruction, and the binding case law, his trial counsel performed deficiently by not objecting when the prosecutor told the jury it should infer Lemberger's guilt from his refusal.

He is wrong. It is well established that a defense attorney is not ineffective for not raising unsettled issues of law. "Counsel is not required to object and argue a point of law that is unsettled." *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 28, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583 (quoting *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 84, 519 N.W.2d 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994)). "We think ineffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue." *Id.* ¶ 29 (quoting McMahon, 186 Wis. 2d at 85).

The issue in this case is not even unsettled—it is settled *against* the argument that Lemberger asserts his trial counsel should have made. Lemberger's trial counsel had no duty to make an objection that would have been contrary to settled law.

Lemberger points to no opinion of this Court or the United States Supreme Court that has overruled *Albright*, *Bolstad*, *Crandall*, or *Zielke*. He instead asks this Court to overrule *Albright*, *Bolstad*, and *Crandall*. (Lemberger's Br. 31.) Lemberger's admission that these three cases have not been overruled defeats his ineffective assistance claim. His trial counsel did not perform deficiently by not objecting when settled law would have made an objection fruitless.

While acknowledging that *Albright*, *Bolstad*, and *Crandall* have not been overruled, Lemberger argues that

those three cases "were premised on a holding that there is no right to refuse a breathalyzer test," and "subsequent developments in the law under the Fourth Amendment and the Wisconsin Constitution . . . render that premise untenable." (Lemberger's Br. 31.)

Lemberger's first legal "development" is that the U.S. Supreme Court did not hold that breath tests are searches under the Fourth Amendment until 1989, in *Skinner v. Ry. Labor Execs.' Ass'n*, 489 U.S. 602 (1989), after *Albright*, *Bolstad*, and *Crandall*. (Lemberger's Br. 30.) But the timing of those particular cases does not matter, for two reasons.

First, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals found that a breath test is a search in 1980, stating that "the taking of a breath sample is a search and seizure within the meanings of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions." *Milwaukee Cty. v. Proegler*, 95 Wis. 2d 614, 623, 291 N.W.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1980.)

Second, the U.S. Supreme Court held that a blood test is a search long before *Skinner*, in *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 767 (1966). Despite that ruling, this Court affirmed in *Bolstad*, which concerned a blood test rather than a breath test, that evidence of refusal is admissible to show consciousness of guilt, and that a prosecutor may comment on the refusal. 124 Wis. 2d at 585. This Court recognized no constitutional right to refuse a blood test even though *Schmerber* had held, 19 years earlier, that a blood test is a search.

The second "development" in the law that Lemberger claims renders *Albright*, *Bolstad*, and *Crandall* "untenable," is that *Padley* distinguished between "implied" consent and "actual" consent, and stated that "actual" consent when the

officer requests a sample is required to authorize the taking of a sample. (Lemberger's Br. 30–31.) Lemberger implies that *Padley* interpreted the implied consent law in a manner inconsistent with the interpretation of the law in *Bolstad*, *Crandall*, and *Albright*, and that *Padley's* interpretation is now controlling. (Lemberger's Br. 30–31.)

However, as the State will explain further below, Padley's interpretation of the implied consent law can be read in accord with this Court's longstanding interpretation of the law. And if *Padley's* explanation and interpretation of the law differs from this Court's, it does not control. The court of appeals could not properly overrule an opinion of this Court or of the court of appeals. Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189–90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). If anything in Padley were inconsistent with this Court's interpretation of the implied consent law, the circuit court and court of appeals could not follow it. When language in a decision of the court of appeals "is inconsistent with controlling supreme court precedent," a court is "not obligated to apply it" and "must, instead, 'reiterate the law under previous supreme court . . . precedent." State v. Matke, 2005 WI App 4, ¶ 15, 278 Wis. 2d 403, 692 N.W.2d 265 (quoting State v. Noll, 2002 WI App 273, 258 Wis. 2d 573, ¶ 16 n.4, 653 N.W.2d 895).

The third "development" Lemberger cites is that the Supreme Court concluded in *Missouri v. McNeely*, __ U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. 1552 (2013), that "drunk driving cases do not present a per se exigency that justifies a warrantless search in all cases even under an implied consent statute." (Lemberger's Br. 31.)

However, *McNeely* concerned the exigent circumstance exception to the warrant requirement, not the consent

exception. As the court of appeals recognized in *Padley*, "*McNeely* is [not] a consent case," and it "say[s] nothing about the constitutionality of a statute that authorizes a law enforcement officer to require a driver to make a choice about consent." *Padley*, 354 N.W.2d at 575, ¶ 47. And the U.S. Supreme Court has characterized *McNeely* as "referr[ing] approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply." *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2185 (citing *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1565–66.)

The "developments" Lemberger points to establish no constitutional right to refuse a breath test without consequences under the implied consent law, or even cast doubt on the holdings of *Albright*, *Bolstad*, or *Crandall*. Evidence of refusal is admissible at trial, and a prosecutor can argue that refusal shows consciousness of guilt. Lemberger's trial counsel did not perform deficiently by not objecting when the prosecutor did exactly what the law allows.

C. Lemberger has not shown that any deficient performance by his trial counsel caused prejudice.

If a reviewing court determines that a defendant has failed to satisfy either prong of the two-prong test to prove ineffective assistance of counsel, it need not address the other prong. State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 61, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 (citing State v. Tomlinson, 2001 WI App 212, ¶ 40, 247 Wis. 2d 682, 635 N.W.2d 201). Lemberger has not shown that his trial counsel performed deficiently, so this Court need not address the prejudice prong of the test for ineffective assistance claims.

If this Court does address prejudice, it should conclude that Lemberger also fails to satisfy that prong. Lemberger argues that his trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's comments regarding Lemberger's refusal "created at the very least a reasonable probability that" the outcome of his trial would have been different. (Lemberger's Br. 34.)

But the circuit court recognized that the prosecutor's comments were proper under *Albright* and *Bolstad*. (53.) In light of this binding precedent, the circuit court would not have granted an objection to those comments, so an objection would have accomplished nothing.

Even if Lemberger could somehow show that the circuit court would have sustained an objection to the prosecutor's comments, there is not a reasonable probability that it would have made any difference in Lemberger's trial. The jury still would have known that Lemberger was informed that if he refused, that fact could be used against him in court, and that Lemberger still refused. And the jury still would have been instructed that it could consider the refusal evidence.

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